

Hult Title IX Policy 2022



Contents

Hult International Business School, Title IX Policy	3
Jurisdiction of the Title IX Policy	3
Supportive Measures	4
Confidential Resources	5
Immediate Action and Emergency Removal	5
Promptness	ε
Reporter or Complainant Requests No Investigation	7
Initial Assessment	8
Right to an Advisor	9
Resolution Processes	11
Informal Resolution	11
Formal Grievance Process	12
Notice of Investigation and Allegations	12
Investigation Process	13
Preliminary Investigation Report	13
Hearing Process	15
Deliberation, Decision-making, and Standard of Proof	17
Notice of Outcome	18
Sanctions	18
Withdrawal or Resignation While Charges Pending	20
Filing an Appeal	20
Conflict of Interest and Training	21



Hult International Business School, Title IX Policy

Title IX of the U.S. Education Amendments of 1972 ("Title IX") is a federal civil rights law that prohibits discrimination on the basis of sex in education programs and activities. Hult International Business School ("Hult") does not discriminate on the basis of sex in the education programs or activities that it operates including admissions and employment.

Under Title IX, discrimination on the basis of sex can also include sexual harassment which is defined as conduct on the basis of sex that satisfies one or more of the following:

- 1. An employee of Hult conditioning the provision of education benefits on participation in unwelcome sexual conduct (i.e., quid pro quo); or
- 2. Unwelcome conduct that a reasonable person would determine is so severe, pervasive, and objectively offensive that it effectively denies a person equal access to the institution's education program or activity; or
- 3. An incident or incidents of sexual assault, dating violence, domestic violence, or stalking as defined by the Hult Sexual Harassment Policy which takes place on one of the Hult campuses in the United States, or at an event or program controlled or managed by a Hult campus in the United States.

Any person may report sex discrimination, including sexual harassment (whether or not the person reporting is the person alleged to be impacted by conduct that could constitute sex discrimination or sexual harassment), in person, by mail, by telephone, or by electronic mail, using the contact information listed for the Title IX Coordinator, or by any other means that results in the Title IX Coordinator receiving the person's verbal or written report. Such a report may be made at any time (including during non-business hours) by using the telephone number, electronic mail address, or by mail to the office address listed for the Title IX Coordinator. Hult will also accept anonymous complaints or reports, but it should be understood that Hult may have limited ability to respond to the behavior if only limited information is provided. The following person has been designated to handle inquiries regarding the non-discrimination policies and/or laws:

Title IX Coordinator

Karen Van Dyne 1 Education Street Cambridge, MA 02141 Karen.vandyne@hult.edu + 1 617-617-1097

Jurisdiction of the Title IX Policy

This policy applies to the education program and activities of Hult, to conduct that takes place on a US campus or on US property controlled by Hult, or at Hult-sponsored events. The Respondent and Complainant must be a member of Hult's community in order for its policies to apply. If the conduct occurs off campus, or on a campus not in the United States, the Hult Sexual Harassment Policy applies.



Regardless of where the conduct occurred, Hult will assess the complaint to determine whether the conduct occurred in the context of its employment or educational program or activity and/or has continuing effects on campus or in an off campus sponsored program or activity. A substantial Hult interest includes:

- Any action that constitutes a criminal offense as defined by law. This includes, but is not limited to, single or repeat violations of any local, state, or federal law
- Any situation in which it is determined that the Respondent poses an immediate threat to the physical health or safety of any student or other individual
- Any situation that significantly impinges upon the rights, property, or achievements of oneself or others or significantly breaches the peace and/or causes social disorder; and/or
- Any situation that is detrimental to the educational interests or mission of Hult

If the Respondent is unknown or is not a member of the Hult community, the Title IX Coordinator will assist the Complainant in identifying appropriate campus and local resources and support options and/or, when criminal conduct is alleged, in contacting local law enforcement if the individual would like to file a police report. The Title IX Coordinator will also assist either party with applicable supportive measures. The Hult investigation cannot proceed.

When the Respondent is enrolled in or employed by another institution, the Title IX Coordinator can assist the Complainant in liaising with the appropriate individual at that institution, as it may be possible to allege violations through that institution's policies.

Similarly, the Title IX Coordinator may be able to assist a student or employee Complainant who experiences discrimination in an internship, or other environment external to Hult where sexual harassment or nondiscrimination policies and procedures of the facilitating or host organization may give recourse to the Complainant.

Supportive Measures

Hult will offer and implement appropriate and reasonable supportive measures to all parties upon notice of alleged sexual harassment and/or retaliation.

Supportive measures are non-disciplinary, non-punitive individualized services offered as appropriate, as reasonably available, and without fee or charge to the parties to restore or preserve access to Hult's education program or activity, including measures designed to protect the safety of all parties or Hult's educational environment, and/or deter sexual harassment and/or retaliation.

The Title IX Coordinator promptly makes supportive measures available to the parties upon receiving notice or a complaint. At the time that supportive measures are offered, Hult will inform the Complainant, in writing, that they may file a formal complaint with Hult either at that time or in the future, if they have not done so already.

The Title IX Coordinator works with the parties to ensure that their wishes are considered with respect to the supportive measures that are planned and implemented.



Hult will maintain the privacy of the supportive measures if privacy does not impair Hult's ability to provide the supportive measures. Hult will act to ensure as minimal an academic/occupational impact on the parties as possible.

Hult will implement measures in a way that does not unreasonably burden either party. These actions may include, but are not limited to:

- Referral to counseling, medical, and/or other healthcare services
- Referral to the Employee Assistance Program
- Referral to community-based service providers
- Student financial aid counseling
- Altering campus housing assignment(s)
- Altering work arrangements for employees or student-employees
- Safety planning
- Providing transportation accommodations
- Implementing mutual no contact orders between the parties
- Academic support, extensions of deadlines, or other course/program-related adjustments
- Class schedule modifications, withdrawals, or leaves of absence
- Increased security and monitoring of certain areas of the campus
- Any other actions deemed appropriate by the Title IX Coordinator

Violations of no contact orders will be referred to appropriate student or employee conduct processes for enforcement.

Confidential Resources

The confidential resource available on the Boston campus are the Hult counselors. The Counseling office is located on the 7th Floor of Hult Center by the quiet study room, and counselors can be reached at 617-619-1179 or boston.counselingoffice@hult.edu. Conversations with confidential resources are kept strictly confidential and, except in rare, extreme circumstances (including imminent risk of harm to self or others), nothing will be shared without your permission.

Immediate Action and Emergency Removal

Hult can act to remove a Respondent entirely or partially from its education program or activities on an emergency basis when an individualized safety and risk analysis has determined that an immediate threat to the physical health or safety of any student or other individual justifies removal. This risk analysis is performed by the Title IX Coordinator in conjunction with the campus management and Campus Emergency Team.

In all cases in which an emergency removal is imposed, the student, or employee will be given notice of the action and the option to request to meet with the Title IX Coordinator prior to such action/removal being imposed, or as soon thereafter as reasonably possible, to appeal the action/removal should not be implemented or should be modified.

This meeting is not a hearing on the merits of the allegation(s), but rather is an administrative process



intended to determine solely whether the emergency removal is appropriate. When this meeting is not requested in a timely manner objection to the emergency removal will be deemed waived. A Complainant and their Advisor may be permitted to participate in this meeting.

A Respondent may be accompanied by an Advisor of their choice when meeting with the Title IX Coordinator for the show cause meeting. The Respondent will be given access to a written summary of the basis for the emergency removal prior to the meeting to allow for adequate preparation.

The Title IX Coordinator has sole discretion under this policy to implement or stay an emergency removal and to determine the conditions and duration. Violation of an emergency removal under this policy will be grounds for sanction, which may include dismissal or termination, independent of the original or underlying Title IX complaint.

Hult will implement the least restrictive emergency actions possible in light of the circumstances and safety concerns. As determined by the Title IX Coordinator, these actions could include, but are not limited to: removing a student from a residence hall, temporarily re-assigning an employee, restricting a student's or employee's access to or use of facilities or equipment, allowing a student to withdraw or take grades of incomplete without financial penalty, authorizing an administrative leave, and suspending a student's participation in extracurricular activities, student employment, student organizational leadership, or student clubs or intramural athletics.

At the discretion of the Title IX Coordinator, alternative coursework options may be pursued to ensure as minimal an academic impact as possible on the parties.

Promptness

All allegations are acted upon promptly once Hult has received notice or a formal complaint. Complaints can take 60-90 business days to resolve, typically. There are always exceptions and extenuating circumstances that can cause a resolution to take longer, but Hult will avoid all undue delays within its control.

Any time the general timeframes for resolution outlined in Hult's policy will be unduly delayed, Hult will provide written notice to the parties of the delay, the cause of the delay, and an estimate of the anticipated additional time that will be needed as a result of the delay.

Hult may undertake a short delay in its investigation (several days to a few weeks) if circumstances require. Such circumstances include but are not limited to a request from law enforcement to temporarily delay the investigation, the need for language assistance, the absence of parties and/or witnesses, and/or accommodations for disabilities or health conditions.

Hult will communicate in writing the anticipated duration of the delay and reason to the parties and provide the parties with status updates if necessary. Hult will promptly resume its investigation and resolution process as soon as feasible. During such a delay, Hult will implement supportive measures as deemed appropriate.

Hult action(s) are not typically altered or precluded on the grounds that civil or criminal charges involving the underlying incident(s) have been filed or that criminal charges have been dismissed or reduced.



Reporter or Complainant Requests No Investigation

If a Reporter or Complainant requests that an investigation not be conducted, the Title IX Coordinator will consider the reasons for the request, including concerns about continued safety of the person reportedly harmed and members of the campus community. The Title IX Coordinator must also balance considerations about the continued health and safety of members of the community against a Reporter's or Complainant's desire not to have the report investigated. In cases when a Reporter or Complainant does not want to have a report investigated, but the Title IX Coordinator has concerns that not taking formal or informal action might endanger the health or safety of members of the campus community, the Title IX Coordinator will initiate confidential consultation with appropriate individuals to analyze the situation and assist in determining appropriate measures to take. The Title IX Coordinator will make the ultimate decision about whether to conduct a formal investigation.

Hult's ability to remedy and respond to notice may be limited if the Complainant does not want Hult to proceed with an investigation and/or grievance process. The goal is to provide the Complainant with as much control over the process as possible, while balancing Hult's obligation to protect its community.

In cases in which the Complainant requests confidentiality/no formal action and the circumstances allow Hult to honor that request, Hult will offer informal resolution options (see below), supportive measures, and remedies to the Complainant and the community, but will not otherwise pursue formal action. If the Complainant elects to take no action, they can change that decision if they decide to pursue a formal complaint later.

Federal Timely Warning Notification and Statistical Reporting

Parties reporting sexual assault, domestic violence, dating violence, and/or stalking should be aware that under the Clery Act, Hult must issue timely warnings for incidents reported to them that pose a serious or continuing threat of bodily harm or danger to members of the campus community.

Hult will ensure that a Complainant's name and other identifying information is not disclosed, while still providing enough information for community members to make safety decisions in light of the potential danger.



Initial Assessment

Upon receipt of a complaint or notice to the Title IX Coordinator of an alleged violation of the Policy, Hult initiates a prompt initial assessment to determine the next steps Hult needs to take.

The formal grievance process will determine whether the Policy has been violated. If so, Hult will promptly implement effective remedies designed to ensure that it is not deliberately indifferent to harassment or discrimination, their potential recurrence, or their effects.

t The steps in an initial assessment can include:

- If notice is given, the Title IX Coordinator seeks to determine if the person impacted wishes to make a formal complaint, and will assist them to do so, if desired.
 - o If they do not wish to do so, the Title IX Coordinator determines whether to initiate a complaint based on whether there is a compelling threat to health and/or safety.
- If a formal complaint is received, the Title IX Coordinator assesses it implicates the Policy. The Title IX Coordinator is not making value judgments. Rather, the assessment focuses on whether the conduct alleged, if proven beyond a preponderance of the evidence, would implicate Hult's policies.
- The Title IX Coordinator works with the Complainant to determine whether the Complainant prefers a supportive and remedial response, an informal resolution option, or a formal investigation and grievance process.
 - o If a supportive and remedial response is preferred, the Title IX Coordinator works with the Complainant to identify their wishes and then seeks to facilitate implementation. No Formal Grievance Process is initiated, though the Complainant can elect to initiate one later, if desired
 - o If an informal resolution option is preferred, the Title IX Coordinator assesses whether the complaint is suitable for informal resolution and may seek to determine if the Respondent is also willing to engage in informal resolution. Informal resolution is not appropriate or allowed in cases in which a student accuses an employee of sexual misconduct. For Hult's San Francisco campus, California state law (SB 493) also prohibits the use of mediation, even voluntarily, for the resolution of allegations of sexual violence (i.e., sexual assault, dating violence, domestic violence, and stalking).
 - o If a Formal Grievance Process is preferred, the Title IX Coordinator determines if the misconduct alleged falls within the scope of Title IX:
 - If it does, the Title IX Coordinator will initiate the formal investigation and grievance process.
 - If it does not, the Title IX Coordinator determines that Title IX does not apply (and will "dismiss" that aspect of the complaint, if any), assesses which policies may apply. Please note that dismissing a complaint under Title IX is just procedural and does not limit Hult's authority to address a complaint with an appropriate process and remedies. In some cases, a complaint which is dismissed by the Title IX policy will still have remedy under the Sexual Harassment Policy.

Upon any dismissal, Hult will promptly send written notice of the dismissal and the rationale for doing so simultaneously to the parties. This dismissal decision is appealable by any party under the procedures for appeal below.



The parties may each have an Advisor of their choice present with them for all meetings and interviews within the resolution process if they so choose. The parties may select whomever they wish to serve as their Advisor as long as the Advisor is available. The Advisor may be a friend, mentor, family member, attorney, or any other individual a party chooses to advise, support, and/or consult with them throughout the resolution process. The parties may choose Advisors from inside or outside of Hult community. The only limitation is that the advisor cannot also be a witness or a party in the same matter being investigated to avoid undermining the investigative process.

An individual is only required by law to have an advisor at the hearing portion of the process. If an individual does not have an advisor at that point, Hult will appoint an advisor, who may or may not be an attorney at Hult's discretion, to facilitate questioning during the hearing. Hult is unable to provide advisors prior to the hearing process. To the extent that Hult provides an advisor, that individual will receive training on Hult's process and the general role of advisor.

Advisors in Hearings

Under U.S. Department of Education regulations applicable to Title IX, cross-examination is required during the hearing, but must be conducted by the parties' Advisors. The parties are not permitted to directly cross-examine each other or any witnesses. If a party does not have an Advisor for a hearing, Hult will appoint a trained Advisor for the limited purpose of conducting any cross-examination.

A party may reject this appointment and choose their own Advisor, but they may not proceed during the hearing without an Advisor. The adjudicator at the hearing is also entitled to ask questions of any party or witness involved.

Advisor's Role

The parties may be accompanied by their Advisor in all meetings and interviews at which the party is entitled to be present, including intake and interviews. Advisors should help the parties prepare for each meeting and are expected to advise ethically, with integrity, and in good faith.

Advisor Violations of Hult Policy

All Advisors are subject to the same Hult policies and procedures, whether they are attorneys or not. Advisors are expected to advise their advisees without disrupting proceedings. Advisors should not address Hult officials in a meeting or interview unless invited to (e.g., asking procedural questions). The Advisor may not make a presentation or represent their advisee during any meeting or proceeding and may not speak on behalf of the advisee to the Investigator(s) or other Decision-maker except during a hearing proceeding, during cross-examination.

The parties are expected to ask and respond to questions on their own behalf throughout the investigation phase of the resolution process. Although the Advisor generally may not speak on behalf of their advisee, the Advisor may consult with their advisee, either privately as needed, or by conferring at a break in the process.

Any Advisor who oversteps their role as defined by this policy will be warned only once. If the Advisor continues to disrupt or otherwise fails to respect the limits of the Advisor role, the Advisor will be dismissed and the meeting will be ended until a substitute Advisor is selected or appointed by Hult.



Sharing Information with the Advisor

Hult expects that the parties may wish to have Hult share documentation and evidence related to the allegations with their Advisors. Parties may share this information directly with their Advisor or other individuals if they wish. Doing so may help the parties participate more meaningfully in the resolution process.

Hult also provides a consent form that authorizes Hult to share such information directly with their Advisor. The parties must either complete and submit this form to the Title IX Coordinator or provide similar documentation demonstrating consent to a release of information to the Advisor before Hult is able to share records with an Advisor.

Privacy of Records Shared with Advisor

Advisors are expected to maintain the privacy of the records shared with them. These records may not be shared with third parties, disclosed publicly, or used for purposes not explicitly authorized by Hult. Hult may seek to restrict the role of any Advisor who does not respect the sensitive nature of the process or who fails to abide by Hult's privacy expectations.

Expectations of the Parties with Respect to Advisors

A party may elect to change Advisors during the process and is not obligated to use the same Advisor throughout. The parties are expected to provide timely notice to the Title IX Coordinator if they change Advisors at any time. It is assumed that if a party changes Advisors, consent to share information with the previous Advisor is terminated, and a release for the new Advisor must be secured.



Resolution Processes

Resolution proceedings are private. All persons present at any time during the resolution process are expected to maintain the privacy of the proceedings in accordance with Hult policy. While there is an expectation of privacy around what Investigators share with parties during interviews, the parties have discretion to share their own knowledge and evidence with others if they so choose. Hult encourages parties to discuss this with their Advisors before doing so.

Informal Resolution

Informal Resolution can include three different approaches:

- When the parties agree to resolve the matter through an alternate resolution mechanism
- When the Respondent accepts responsibility for violating policy, and desires to accept a sanction and end the resolution process; or
- When the Title IX Coordinator can resolve the matter informally by providing supportive measures to remedy the situation.

To initiate Informal Resolution, a Complainant needs to submit a formal complaint, as defined above. If a Respondent wishes to initiate Informal Resolution, they should contact the Title IX Coordinator to so indicate.

It is not necessary to pursue Informal Resolution first to pursue a Formal Grievance Process, and any party participating in Informal Resolution can stop the process at any time and begin or resume the Formal Grievance Process.

Prior to implementing Informal Resolution, Hult will provide the parties with written notice of the reported misconduct and any sanctions or measures that may result from participating in such a process, including information regarding any records that will be maintained or shared by Hult.

Hult will obtain voluntary, written confirmation that all parties wish to resolve the matter through Informal Resolution before proceeding and will not pressure the parties to participate in Informal Resolution. There are several types of informal resolution that Hult will consider:

Alternate Resolution

Alternate Resolution is an informal process, such as mediation or restorative practices, by which a mutually agreed upon resolution of an allegation is reached. It may be used for less serious, yet inappropriate, behaviors and is encouraged as an alternative to the Administrative Resolution process to resolve conflicts. All parties must consent to the use of Alternate Resolution

The Title IX Coordinator determines if Alternate Resolution is appropriate, based on the willingness of the parties, the nature of the conduct at issue, and the susceptibility of the conduct to Alternate Resolution.

In an Alternate Resolution meeting, a trained administrator facilitates a dialogue with the parties to an effective resolution, if possible. Institutionally imposed sanctions are not possible as the result of an Alternate Resolution process, though the parties may agree to accepted sanctions and/or appropriate remedies.



The Title IX Coordinator maintains records of any resolution that is reached, and failure to abide by the resolution can result in appropriate enforcement actions.

Alternate Resolution is not used to address reports of violent behavior of any kind or in other cases of serious violations of policy. The results of Alternate Resolution are not appealable.

Respondent Accepts Responsibility for Alleged Violations

The Respondent may accept responsibility for all or part of the alleged policy violations at any point during the resolution process. If the Respondent indicates an intent to accept responsibility for all of the alleged misconduct, the formal process will be paused, and the Title IX Coordinator implements the accepted finding that the Respondent is in violation of Hult policy and implements sanctions and/or remedies, in coordination with other appropriate administrator(s), as necessary.

When the parties cannot agree on all terms of resolution, the Formal Grievance Process will resume at the same point where it was paused.

When a resolution is accomplished, the appropriate sanction or responsive actions are promptly implemented in order to effectively stop the harassment or discrimination, prevent its recurrence, and remedy the effects of the discriminatory conduct, both on the Complainant and the community.

Formal Grievance Process

Notice of Investigation and Allegations

The Title IX Coordinator will provide written notice of the investigation and allegations (the "NOIA") to the Respondent upon commencement of the Formal Grievance Process. This facilitates the Respondent's ability to prepare for the interview and to identify and choose an Advisor to accompany them. The NOIA is also copied to the Complainant, who is to be given advance notice of when the NOIA will be delivered to the Respondent.

The NOIA will include:

- A meaningful summary of all of allegations,
- The identity of the involved parties (if known),
- The specific policies implicated,
- A description of the applicable procedures,
- A statement about Hult's policy on retaliation,
- Information about the privacy of the process,
- Information on the need for each party to have an Advisor of their choosing and suggestions for ways to identify an Advisor,
- A statement informing the parties that Hult's Policy prohibits knowingly making false statements, including knowingly submitting false information during the resolution process,
- Detail on how the party may request disability accommodations during the interview process,

Amendments and updates to the NOIA may be made as the investigation progresses and more information becomes available regarding the addition or dismissal of various charges.



Investigation Process

All investigations are thorough, reliable, impartial, prompt, and fair. Investigations involve interviews with all relevant parties and witnesses; obtaining available, relevant evidence; and identifying sources of expert information, as necessary. All Title IX Investigations involve at least two persons, the Title IX Coordinator, and local Title IX Staff.

All parties have a full and fair opportunity, through the investigation process, to suggest witnesses and questions, to provide evidence and expert witnesses, and to fully review and respond to all evidence on the record. All meetings, investigations and interviews will be recorded via Zoom and be available to all parties.

The Investigator(s) typically take(s) the following steps, if not already completed:

- Interview both parties and all available, relevant witnesses and conduct follow-up interviews as necessary
- Allow each party the opportunity to suggest witnesses and questions they wish the Investigator(s) to ask of the other party and witnesses, and document in the report which questions were asked, with a rationale for any changes or omissions.
- Provide each party an opportunity to review and verify the Investigator's summary notes of the relevant evidence/testimony from their respective interviews and meetings
- Complete the investigation promptly and without unreasonable deviation from the intended timeline
- Provide regular status updates to the parties throughout the investigation.

The investigation does not consider incidents not directly related to the possible violation, unless they evidence a pattern; questions and evidence about the Complainant's sexual predisposition or prior sexual behavior are also not allowed, unless such questions and evidence about the Complainant's prior sexual behavior are offered to prove that someone other than the Respondent committed the conduct alleged by the Complainant, or if the questions and evidence concern specific incidents of the Complainant's prior sexual behavior with respect to the Respondent and are offered to prove consent.

Preliminary Investigation Report

The Title IX Coordinator will write a comprehensive investigation report fully summarizing the investigation, all witness interviews, and addressing all relevant evidence. Appendices including relevant physical or documentary evidence will be included.

This report will be provided to the parties and their respective Advisors (if so desired by the parties) as well as an opportunity to inspect and review all of the evidence obtained as part of the investigation that is directly related to the reported misconduct, for a ten (10) business day review and comment period so that each party may meaningfully respond to the evidence. The parties may elect to waive the full ten days.

Responses to the preliminary investigation report must be sent in writing to the Title IX coordinator



before the close of the 10-day period. The Title IX coordinator will incorporate relevant elements of the parties' written responses into the final investigation report, include any additional relevant evidence, make any necessary revisions, and finalize the report. The Title IX Coordinator should document all rationales for any changes made after the review and comment period. The final report is then shared with all parties and their Advisors through secure electronic transmission or hard copy at least ten (10) business days prior to a hearing. The parties are also provided with a file of any directly related evidence that was not included in the report



Once the final investigation report is shared with the parties, the Title IX Coordinator will refer the matter for a hearing. The hearing cannot be less than ten (10) business days from the conclusion of the investigation, when the final investigation report is transmitted to the parties and the Decision-maker, unless all parties and the Decision-maker agree to an expedited timeline.

Hult will designate a single Decision-maker who will also Chair the hearing unless the Decision-maker requests the presence of a three-person panel. With a panel, one of the three members will be appointed as Chair by the Title IX Coordinator.

The Decision-maker will not have had any previous involvement with the investigation.

Notice of Hearing

No less than ten (10) business days prior to the hearing, the Title IX Coordinator will send notice of the hearing to the parties. Once emailed, and/or received in-person, notice will be presumptively delivered.

- The time, date, and location of the hearing and a reminder that attendance is mandatory, superseding all other campus activities.
- A list of all those who will attend the hearing, along with an invitation to object to any Decisionmaker based on demonstrated bias or a past conflict of interest.
 - This must be raised with the Title IX Coordinator within three business days of receiving notice.
- An invitation to contact the Title IX Coordinator to arrange any disability accommodations, language assistance, and/or interpretation services that may be needed at the hearing, at least seven (7) business days prior to the hearing.
- Notification that the parties may have the assistance of an Advisor of their choosing at the hearing and will be required to have one present for any questions they may desire to ask. The party must notify the Title IX Coordinator if they do not have an Advisor, and Hult will appoint one. Each party must have an Advisor present. There are no exceptions.

If any party or witness does not appear at the scheduled hearing, the hearing may be held in their absence. For compelling reasons, the Chair may reschedule the hearing.



Pre-Hearing Meetings

The Chair may convene a pre-hearing meeting(s) with the parties and/or their Advisors to invite them to submit the questions or topics they (the parties and/or their Advisors) wish to ask or discuss at the hearing, so that the Chair can rule on their relevance ahead of time to avoid any improper evidentiary introduction in the hearing or provide recommendations for more appropriate phrasing. However, this advance review opportunity does not preclude the Advisors from asking at the hearing for a reconsideration based on any new information or testimony offered at the hearing. The Chair must document and share their rationale for any exclusion or inclusion at this pre-hearing meeting.

At each pre-hearing meeting with a party and their Advisor, the Chair will consider arguments that evidence identified in the final investigation report as relevant is, in fact, not relevant. Similarly, evidence identified as directly related but not relevant by the Investigator(s) may be argued to be relevant. The Chair may rule on these arguments pre-hearing and will exchange those rulings between the parties prior to the hearing to assist in preparation for the hearing. The pre-hearing meeting(s) will/be recorded.

Hearing Procedures

The hearing will be recorded via Zoom and be added to the Title IX file. The parties will not be in the same room and neither party will be required to face the camera when they are not being questioned.

Participants at the hearing will include the Chair, any additional panelists, the Investigator(s) who conducted the investigation, the parties, Advisors to the parties, any called witnesses, the Title IX Coordinator and anyone providing authorized accommodations or assistive services.

The Chair will answer all questions of procedure. Anyone appearing at the hearing to provide information will respond to questions on their own behalf. The Chair will allow witnesses who have relevant information to appear at a portion of the hearing to respond to specific questions from the Decision-maker and the parties and will then be excused.

The Investigator(s) will present a summary of the final investigation report, including items that are contested and those that are not, and will be subject to questioning by the Decision-maker and the parties (through their Advisors).

Neither the parties nor the Decision-maker should ask the Investigator(s) their opinions on credibility, recommended findings, or determinations, and the Investigators, Advisors, and parties will refrain from discussion of or questions about these assessments. If such information is introduced, the Chair will direct that it be disregarded.

Testimony and Questioning

Once the Investigator(s) present their report and are questioned, the parties and witnesses may provide relevant information in turn, beginning with the Complainant, and then in the order determined by the Chair. The parties/witnesses will submit to questioning by the Decision-maker and then by the parties



through their Advisors ("cross-examination").

All questions are subject to a relevance determination by the Chair. The Advisor will pose the proposed question orally, the proceeding will pause to allow the Chair to consider it, and the Chair will determine whether the question will be permitted, disallowed, or rephrased.

The Chair may explore arguments regarding relevance with the Advisors if the Chair so chooses. The Chair will then state their decision on the question for the record and advise the party/witness to whom the question was directed, accordingly. The Chair will explain any decision to exclude a question as not relevant, or to reframe it for relevance.

The Chair will limit or disallow questions on the basis that they are irrelevant, unduly repetitive (and thus irrelevant), or abusive. The Chair has final say on all questions and determinations of relevance, subject to any appeal. The Chair may consult with legal counsel on any questions of admissibility. The Chair may ask advisors to frame why a question is or is not relevant from their perspective but will not entertain argument from the advisors on relevance once the Chair has ruled on a question.

If the parties raise an issue of bias or conflict of interest of an Investigator or Decision-maker at the hearing, the Chair may elect to address those issues, consult with legal counsel, and/or refer them to the Title IX Coordinator, and/or preserve them for appeal. If bias is not in issue at the hearing, the Chair should not permit irrelevant questions that probe for bias.

Joint Hearings

In hearings involving more than one Respondent or in which two (2) or more Complainants have accused the same individual of substantially similar conduct, the default procedure will be to hear the allegations jointly.

However, the Title IX Coordinator may permit the investigation and/or hearings pertinent to each Respondent to be conducted separately if there is a compelling reason to do so. In joint hearings, separate determinations of responsibility will be made for each Respondent with respect to each alleged policy violation.

Hult will follow the relevant rules under Title IX for consolidating cases.

Deliberation, Decision-making, and Standard of Proof

The Decision-maker(s) will deliberate in closed session to determine whether the Respondent is responsible or not responsible for the policy violation(s) in question. If a panel is used, a simple majority vote is required to determine the finding. The preponderance of the evidence standard of proof is used.

The parties may each submit a written impact statement prior to the hearing for the consideration of the Decision-maker at the sanction stage of the process when a determination of responsibility is reached. When there is a finding of responsibility on one or more of the allegations, the Decision-maker may then consider this impact statements in determining appropriate sanction(s).



The Chair will ensure that each of the parties has an opportunity to review any impact statement submitted by the other party. The Decision-maker may – at their discretion – consider the statements, but they are not binding.

The Decision-maker will review the statements and any pertinent conduct history and will determine the appropriate sanction(s)

The Chair will then prepare a written deliberation statement and deliver it to the Title IX Coordinator, detailing the determination, rationale, the evidence used in support of its determination, the evidence disregarded, credibility assessments, and any sanctions. This report must be submitted to the Title IX Coordinator within five (5) business days of the end of deliberations, unless the Title IX Coordinator grants an extension. If an extension is granted, the Title IX Coordinator will notify the parties.

Notice of Outcome

Using the deliberation statement, the Title IX Coordinator will work with the Chair to prepare a Notice of Outcome. The Title IX Coordinator will then share the letter, including the final determination, rationale, and any applicable sanction(s) with the parties and their Advisors within five (5) business days of receiving the Decision-maker's deliberation statement.

The Notice of Outcome will identify the specific policy reported to have been violated, including the relevant policy section, and will contain a description of the procedural steps taken by Hult from the receipt of the misconduct report to the determination, including any and all notifications to the parties, interviews with parties and witnesses, site visits, methods used to obtain evidence, and hearings held.

The Notice of Outcome will summarize the finding on each alleged policy violation; the findings of fact that support the determination; conclusions regarding the application of the relevant policy to the facts at issue; a statement of, and rationale for, the result of each allegation, any sanctions issued which Hult is permitted to share according to state or federal law; and any remedies provided to the Complainant designed to ensure access to Hult's educational or employment program or activity, to the extent Hult is permitted to share such information under state or federal law (this detail is not typically shared with the Respondent unless the remedy directly relates to the Respondent).

The Notice of Outcome will also include information on when the results are considered by Hult to be final, any changes that occur prior to finalization, and the relevant procedures and bases for any available appeal options.

Sanctions

Factors considered when determining a sanction/responsive action may include, but are not limited to:

- The nature, severity of, and circumstances surrounding the violation(s)
- The Respondent's disciplinary history
- Previous allegations or allegations involving similar conduct
- The need for sanctions/responsive actions to bring an end to the discrimination,



harassment, and/or retaliation

- The need for sanctions/responsive actions to prevent the future recurrence of discrimination, harassment, and/or retaliation
- The need to remedy the effects of the discrimination, harassment, and/or retaliation on the Complainant and the community
- The impact on the parties
- Any other information deemed relevant by the Decision-maker

The sanctions will be implemented as soon as is feasible, either upon the outcome of any appeal or the expiration of the window to appeal without an appeal being requested. The sanctions described in this policy are not exclusive of, and may be in addition to, other actions taken, or sanctions imposed by external authorities.

Student Sanctions

The following are the usual sanctions that may be imposed upon students singly or in combination:

- Warning: A formal statement that the conduct was unacceptable and a warning that further violation of any Hult policy, procedure, or directive will result in more severe sanctions/responsive actions.
- Social Probation: A written reprimand for violation of institutional policy, providing for more severe disciplinary sanctions in the event that the student or organization is found in violation of any institutional policy, procedure, or directive within a specified period of time. Terms of the probation will be articulated and may include denial of specified social privileges, exclusion from co-curricular activities, exclusion from designated areas of campus, no-contact orders, and/or other measures deemed appropriate.
- Suspension: Termination of student status for a definite period of time not to exceed two years and/or until specific criteria are met. Students who return from suspension are automatically placed on probation through the remainder of their tenure as a student at Hult.
- *Dismissal:* Permanent termination of student status and revocation of rights to be on campus for any reason or to attend Hult-sponsored events.

Employee Sanctions

Responsive actions for an employee who has engaged in harassment, discrimination, and/or retaliation include:

- Warning Verbal or Written
- Performance Improvement/Management Process
- Required Training or Education
- Probation
- Loss of Oversight or Supervisory Responsibility
- Demotion
- Suspension with pay
- Suspension without pay
- Termination
- *Other Actions:* In addition to or in place of the above sanctions, Hult may assign any other sanctions as deemed appropriate.



Withdrawal or Resignation While Charges Pending

Students: If a student has an allegation pending for violation of Hult may place a hold on a student's ability to graduate and/or to receive an official transcript/diploma. Should a student decide to not participate in the resolution process, the process proceeds absent their participation to a reasonable resolution. Should a student Respondent permanently withdraw from Hult, the resolution process ends, as Hult no longer has disciplinary jurisdiction over the withdrawn student.

However, Hult will continue to address and remedy any systemic issues, variables that may have contributed to the alleged violation(s), and any ongoing effects of the alleged harassment, discrimination, and/or retaliation. The student who withdraws or leaves while the process is pending may not return to Hult. Such exclusion applies to all campuses of Hult. A hold will be placed on their ability to be readmitted. They may also be barred from Hult property and/or events.

If the student Respondent only withdraws or takes a leave for a specified period of time (e.g., one semester or term), the resolution process may continue remotely and that student is not permitted to return to Hult unless and until all sanctions have been satisfied.

During the resolution process, Hult may put a hold on a responding student's transcript or place a notation on a responding student's transcript or dean's disciplinary certification that a disciplinary matter is pending.

Employees: Should an employee Respondent resign with unresolved allegations pending, the resolution process ends, as Hult no longer has disciplinary jurisdiction over the resigned employee.

However, Hult will continue to address and remedy any systemic issues, variables that contributed to the alleged violation(s), and any ongoing effects of the alleged harassment or discrimination.

The employee who resigns with unresolved allegations pending is not eligible for rehire with Hult or any campus of Hult, and the records retained by the Title IX Coordinator will reflect that status. All Hult responses to future inquiries regarding employment references for that individual will include that the former employee resigned during a pending disciplinary matter.

Filing an Appeal

Either party may appeal the finding if there is:

- a procedural error that affected the outcome
- bias on the part of an investigative or decision-making party that affected the outcome
- new evidence that was not reasonable available at the time the determination was made and would affect the outcome of the matter.

The appeal must be filed within 10 calendar days of the receipt of the Title IX decision, unless good cause can be shown for an extension of time. The appeal must be sent to Chair of the Professional Integrity Committee (PIC) on the appropriate campus. If the request for appeal does not meet the grounds in this



policy, that request will be denied by the Chair of the PIC and the parties and their advisors will be notified in writing of the denial and the rationale.

Any sanctions imposed as a result of the hearing are stayed during the appeal process. Supportive measures may be reinstated, subject to the same supportive measure procedures above. All approved appeals will be sent to the Global Appeals Committee, consisting of the Chairs of the PIC of each campus. If the appeal has new information, the file will go back to the original decision maker for rereview.

If the appeal team has questions, they can contact the student. They will not re-investigate the case unless they find bias or a procedural error. If bias is found, the case will be re-investigated from the start, including all witness interviews and statements and hearings. The appeal team will not discuss the case with the decision maker, except to ask procedural questions.

A Notice of Appeal Outcome will be sent to all parties including the decision on each approved ground and rationale for each decision. The Notice of Appeal Outcome will specify the finding on each ground for appeal, any specific instructions for remand or reconsideration, any sanctions that may result which Hult is permitted to share according to state or federal law. The decision of the Global Appeal Committee is final.

Conflict of Interest and Training

All officials who are involved in the discrimination grievance process, including the Title IX staff, designated investigators, decision makers, hearing panel members, hearing panel chair, will have adequate training. Training will address, but is not limited to, recognizing and appropriately responding to allegations of discrimination, harassment, including hostile environment harassment, sexual misconduct, and retaliation, conducting investigations, protecting confidentiality, and recognizing the link between alcohol and drug use and sexual assault and sexual harassment.

Policy Changes

Hult reserves the right to update this policy and any relevant procedures in accordance with appliable law and best practice.

External Complaints

If you filed a complaint with the Title IX staff and believe the response was inadequate, or you otherwise believe you have been discriminated against by the School, you may be able to file with external offices, including but not limited to:

The U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights

Boston Office

U.S. Department of Education



8th Floor, 5 Post Office Square Boston, MA 02109-3921 Telephone: (617) 289-0111 Email: OCR.Boston@ed.gov

Website: www.2ed.gov/about/offices/list/oc

The US Equal Employment Opportunity Commission – is responsible for enforcing federal laws that make it illegal to discriminate against a job applicant or employee because of the person's race, color, religion, sex, national origin age, disability of genetic information.

EEOC- Boston Area Office

John F. Kennedy Federal Building 475 Government Center Boston MA 02203

Telephone: (800)-669-4000 Email: info@eeoc.gov